

Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Amended: Oct 18-04; Sept 22-05; Jul 7-09; Nov 2-10

5. PUBLIC WORKS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

E 1	FIRE HYDRANT MAINTENANCE - (Deleted)	4
5.1		
5.2	CITY CONSTRUCTION CREWS	
5.3	CITY DAMAGE TO DRIVEWAYS	1
5.4	CITY DAMAGE TO PROPERTY	1
5.5	NO CURB CUTS ON VACANT PROPERTY	1
5.6	NOXIOUS WEEDS	1
5.7	PARK FENCING	1
5.8	PARK PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT – (Deleted)	1
5.9	ROAD DRAINAGE DITCH – (Deleted	1
5.10	ROAD MAINTENANCE – (Deleted)	1
5.11	ROADSIDE BRUSHING – (Deleted)	2
5.12	ROTATION SYSTEM FOR RENTAL EQUIPMENT	
5.13	SANITARY SEWER MAINTENANCE - (Deleted)	2
5.14.2	SEWER CONNECTION BREAKS	2 2
5.15	WATER CONNECTION LEAKS OR BREAKS	2
	RESPONSIBILITIES	
	INVESTIGATION	
5.16	SIDEWALK MAINTENANCE – (Deleted)	
5.17	SIDEWALK (WINTER MAINTENANCE) – (Deleted	
5.18	SIDEWALK WHEELCHAIR RAMPS	
5.19	SNOW REMOVAL AND ICE MANAGEMENT	
	PURPOSESCOPE	_
	DEFINITIONS	-
5.19.4	PRIORITY	5
5.19.5	LEVELS OF SERVICE	5



Adopted: September 12, 2000		Council Resolution No. 00-762	
5.19.7	SIDEWALK AND ROADSIDE MAINTENANCE	6	
5.20	STORM SEWER MAINTENANCE - (Deleted)	7	
5.21	STREET SIGNS TO INCLUDE BLOCK NUMBER	7	
5.22	TRAFFIC SIGN MAINTENANCE - (Deleted)	7	
5.23	USE OF CITY GRAVEL PIT	7	
5.24.2 5.24.3 5.24.4 5.24.5 5.24.6	STOP SIGN POLICY	7 8 8 8	
5.25.2 5.25.3 5.25.4 5.25.5	NEIGHBOURHOOD TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT		
5.25.6	NEIGHBOURHOOD TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES	REPORT ATTACHED9	



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

5.1 FIRE HYDRANT MAINTENANCE – (DELETED)

Deleted 5.1Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220

5.2 CITY CONSTRUCTION CREWS

City construction crews will practice due diligence on construction projects to minimize sediment runoff into creeks and will receive training to keep them up to date on the best management practices in this area.

5.3 CITY DAMAGE TO DRIVEWAYS

Where a driveway for which a driveway permit had been issued is disrupted by the City, the City will repair any damage, with like materials as much as is reasonably possible.

5.4 CITY DAMAGE TO PROPERTY

When Public Works crews or contractors engaged by the City disturb private property the property will be restored to its earlier condition as much as reasonably possible.

5.5 NO CURB CUTS ON VACANT PROPERTY

After the acceptance of a Local Improvement Project, owners of vacant properties will be advised that driveway curb cuts for a vacant property will not be considered until such time as a building is constructed.

5.6 NOXIOUS WEEDS

The City will only take action where complaints are received with regard to noxious weeds on City property.

5.7 PARK FENCING

A park will not be fenced, unless it has been determined by the City that there is a safety hazard to children.

5.8 PARK PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT – (DELETED)

Deleted 5.8 Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220

5.9 ROAD DRAINAGE DITCH - (DELETED

Deleted 5.9 Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220

5.10 ROAD MAINTENANCE – (DELETED)

Deleted 5.10 Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

5.11 ROADSIDE BRUSHING – (DELETED)

Deleted 5.11 Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220

5.12 ROTATION SYSTEM FOR RENTAL EQUIPMENT

The Public Works Department will use a rotation system in rentals wherever possible with the lowest price and performance also being a factor in the choice of rentals.

5.13 SANITARY SEWER MAINTENANCE – (DELETED)

Deleted 5.13 Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220

5.14 SEWER CONNECTION BREAKS

5.14.1 RESPONSIBILITIES

The property owner is responsible for the sewer connections from the house to the main. The City will only assume charges in connection with work on a public right-of- way, where the problem is caused by the faulty workmanship of the City or a breakage in a pipe that is not caused directly or indirectly by the property owner.

5.14.2 INVESTIGATION

If a property owner is unable to unplug a sewer connection from the house to the main, the Public Works Crew will investigate the reported blockage and determine its location.

5.14.3 COST

The entire cost of the inspection and repairs, including any charge for overtime, will be borne by the property owner if it is determined to be the owners responsibility under Section 15.1.

5.15 WATER CONNECTION LEAKS OR BREAKS

5.15.1 RESPONSIBILITIES

The City of Campbell River is responsible for the water connection from the main up to and including the property line shut-off. The property owner is responsible for the water connection from the house to the property line. The City will only assume charges in connection with work on a public right-of-way, where the problem is caused by the faulty workmanship of the City or a breakage in the pipe that is not caused directly or indirectly by the property owner.

5.15.2 INVESTIGATION

If the water leak is near the property line shut-off, a Public Works Crew will investigate and determine who is responsible for the repair.

5.15.3 COST

If the leak is on the property owner's side of the property line shut-off, all costs for the repair will be borne by the property owner. If the water repair necessitates turning off the water,



Adopted: September 12, 2000

Council Resolution No. 00-762

only Public Works personnel shall operate the property line shut-off valve. The cost for this turn-off and subsequent turn-on, shall be paid by the property owner at a rate set by the City of Campbell River's Finance Department.

5.16 SIDEWALK MAINTENANCE – (DELETED)

Deleted 5.16 Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220

5.17 SIDEWALK (WINTER MAINTENANCE) - (DELETED

Deleted 5.17 Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220

5.18 SIDEWALK WHEELCHAIR RAMPS

Due to financial considerations, an average of twenty (20) wheelchair ramps per year be retrofitted to the standards set out in the Master City Specifications.

5.19 SNOW REMOVAL AND ICE MANAGEMENT

Amended Nov 9/10 Res #10-0757

5.19.1 PURPOSE

The purpose of the Snow and Ice Management Policy is to:

- a) Establish an acceptable balance between the community's transportation and safety needs and its financial capacity;
- b) Ensure that the City transportation infrastructure is managed appropriately during snow and ice conditions;
- c) Provide consistency in provision of different levels of service throughout the community.

5.19.2 SCOPE

The Snow and Ice Management Policy applies to the City's roads, sidewalks, parking lots and maintained trail networks, as defined in the City's Official Community Plan. Snow and ice management along provincial highways is managed in accordance with provincial direction/policy.

Priority levels are established to insure that emergency response routes are maintained, transit services can continue, the public has reasonable access to arterial and collector roadways throughout the community; and to mitigate or reduce hazards to the community.

5.19.3 DEFINITIONS

Anti-icing	is the application of a chemical or other agent to prevent or reduce the opportunity for precipitation or frost to bond to the road surface
Minor Storm	a storm that produces less than 15 cm of snow in one continuous event (start to finish as reported by Environment Canada)
Major Storm:	a storm that produces more than 15 cm of snow in one continuous event



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

	(start to finish as reported by Environment Canada)
Pre-wetting:	the application of a liquid deicer into the sand or salt at time of application
Snow Plowing:	the use of equipment to move or remove snow from accumulating on the roadway surfaces
Highways:	is the asphalt surface from the road centerline, the width of the marked lane (multi lane roadways) or equivalent of a lane width on a two lane roadway. (Travelled lanes on multi lane roadways or those with marked bike lane would be addressed as per the policy and procedures outlined below.)
Highways:	Inland Highway 19 and Highway 19A (from the entrance to BC Ferries to the connection to Highway 19), Jubilee Parkway and Highway 28 are the responsibility of the Province
Arterial Roadways:	Major roadways within the community generally connecting the north and south portions of the community. They include, but are not limited to Dogwood, Alder, Island Highway (19A), Hilchey and Petersen (as identified in the OCP)
Collector Roadways:	Roadways that connect to the main arterial roadways. They include but are not limited to Erikson, Evergreen, McPhedran, 6th and 7th Avenue, Pinecrest (as identified in the OCP)
Local Roadways:	The remainder of the roadways within the community that feed into the collector roadways. These do not include lanes or private property (strata's etc.) (as identified in the OCP)
Commercial/Downtown Core:	Areas as identified in the OCP as commercial in designation and the areas in and around Shoppers Row
Public Parking Areas:	Parking lots or areas owned and maintained by the City, and may include parking lots for City parks or facilities
Transit Routes	Those routes on which BC Transit operates regularly scheduled transit service that may change at times with schedule adjustments, etc. These routes do not include areas serviced by custom transit (Handy Dart) services
Snow and Ice Management Procedures	This refers to the procedural guidelines established to evaluate and undertake the appropriate actions to carry out the operations related to the Snow and Ice Management Policy. These procedures are to be reviewed yearly and amended as required to reflect best management practices.



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

5.19.4 PRIORITY

First Priority shall be given to the City's arterial road network; and any designated emergency routes and facilities. The objective is to insure passable driving lanes along the major road networks and to emergency service providers.

Secondary Priority shall be given to snow and ice management along collector roads, transit routes and most commercial areas which may include select public parking facilities. The objective is to provide passable driving lanes along collector roadways that connect local roads to the arterial road network. This will also provide access to transit services within the community and to most commercial areas. School zones that are not on arterial or collector roadways will be included in this level of service wherever practical.

Third Priority for snow and ice management will be along local roads and responses to site-specific hazards. The objective is to provide passable driving lanes from the local roadways to the collector road network. Site specific locations/hazards may receive more timely service based on the assessment of those conditions.

5.19.5 LEVELS OF SERVICE

The City shall apply snow and ice management levels of service as described in the Snow and Ice Management Procedures component for each of its priority areas. This Policy applies to the winter months from November 1 to March 1. Snowfalls and ice maintenance outside of this time frame will be responded to based on the equipment and manpower available, and may vary from the policy and procedures outlined.

The goal of snow removal is to open up a minimum of one driving lane (or bi-directional lanes on arterial and collector roadways) to provide the public and emergency vehicles reasonable access around the community. As outlined in the procedures, this may not provide or maintain a "bare asphalt surface", but passable driving lanes based on the rate and accumulation of the snowfall event.

Service levels for a minor storm event will focus on salting/sanding streets and intersections, with plowing of the streets as a secondary goal. In major events, the focus will shift to plowing operations followed by sanding and salting operations. Winter storm events vary in duration, intensity and potential accumulation. These factors will all be considered in the deployment of resources to deal with any occurrence.

In response to snow and ice management requests, the City will:

- a) Receive the request(s);
- b) Prioritize the request(s);
- c) Investigate, if deemed necessary; or undertake appropriate action based on the location of the issue (based on the priority schedule and management procedures)

Regular inspection of the key roadways or areas is to be used as a preventative approach to possible developing problems. This will be done under the direction of the Road's Supervisor and/or the Transportation Manager; and will be scheduled based on existing conditions and short term



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

forecasting by Environment Canada. Service level inspections and actions will be based on the Snow and Ice Management Procedures.

Third Priority roadways shall be dealt with during normal operating hours (Monday to Friday) unless directed otherwise, based on the event and overall conditions, by the Road's Supervisor, Transportation Manager or the General Manager of Operations. Work outside of normal hours shall be based on the recommendation of the Road's Supervisor and require the approval of the Transportation Manager or General Manager of Operations.

5.19.6 SIDEWALK AND ROADSIDE MAINTENANCE

Snow and ice maintenance for sidewalks is outlined in the Traffic and Highways Regulations Bylaw (No. 3043, Part III, Section 20) that requires:

- a) The owners or occupiers (tenants) to remove snow or ice from any roof or other part of a structure that is situated adjacent to or abutting any portion of the highway (roadway) that constitutes a danger to persons or property using the highway by imposing a threat of falling on the highway (roadway)
- b) Owner or tenants of all commercial, industrial or institutional premises are required to clear snow and ice from the sidewalks abutting their premises by 10 a.m. on any day that the premise is open to the public
- c) Owners or managers of all multi-unit residential premises are required to clear snow and ice from the sidewalks abutting their premises by 10 a.m. on any day the premises are occupied
- d) Owners or residents of single or duplex residences are requested to clear snow and ice abutting their premises
- e) No person shall remove snow or ice from the sidewalks abutting their premises and place it on the roadway except where the removal of the snow or ice is impracticable.

Sidewalks adjacent to City properties will be dealt with to coincide with the priority removal of snow and ice from the roadway wherever practical. Service levels are to be determined based on the storm event, sidewalk conditions, and needs and safety of the greater public.

The City shall endeavour to clear snow adjacent to bus stops as practical based on location and equipment available. Snow and ice management at the bus stop locations will be dealt with on an as needed basis.

Pathways and similar structures will be given a low priority. Culverts and catch basis shall be dealt with on an as needed basis.

5.19.7 ENVIRONMENTAL AWARENESS

In light of a heightened awareness of environmental impacts that winter maintenance services may impose, the City will:

- a) Assign a heightened priority to environmental impositions;
- b) Annually review and evaluate the environmental impact of maintenance operations;



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

- c) Be pro-active in researching and implementing methodologies to mitigate negative impact;
- d) Use Best Management Practices.

5.19.8 EMERGENCY RESPONSE

Emergency response to snow and ice management will be evaluated and determined by the Road's Supervisor and/or the Transportation Manager. Any conditions that exceed the City's normal operational capacity to manage snow and ice conditions will be brought to the General Manager of Operation for approval.

Response to calls from emergency agencies and the public will be dealt with as per the response plan under levels of service. Variation on this response to local issues or specific hazards will be solely at the discretion of the Road's Supervisor and/or the Transportation Manager.

5.20 STORM SEWER MAINTENANCE – (DELETED)

Deleted 5.20 Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220

5.21 STREET SIGNS TO INCLUDE BLOCK NUMBER

When street signs are replaced they will be replaced with street signs that include the street block number.

5.22 TRAFFIC SIGN MAINTENANCE - (DELETED)

Deleted 5.22 Oct 18-04 Res #ic04-0220

5.23 USE OF CITY GRAVEL PIT

The material from the City gravel pit may be used only for City purposes.

5.24 STOP SIGN POLICY

This policy applies to new installations of Stop Signs at the following locations:

5.24.1 LOCAL/LOCAL STREET

At the intersection of a Local Street and another Local Street:

- a) On the lower volume local street when the normal "yield to the vehicle on the right" (Section 173 of the Motor Vehicle Act) is considered unsafe or
- b) When there have consistently been three or more reportable right-angle type accidents per year and the accident rate cannot be reduced by other means.
- c) Otherwise, intersections of local streets should be uncontrolled.

5.24.2 LOCAL/COLLECTOR OR ARTERIAL STREET

At the intersection of a Local street with a Collector Street or an Arterial Street the stop sign will be installed on the local street.



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

5.24.3 COLLECTOR/COLLECTOR STREET

At the intersection of a Collector Street with another Collector Street the stop sign will be installed on the lower volume collector street.

5.24.4 COLLECTOR/ARTERIAL STREET

At intersections of a Collector Street and an Arterial Street the stop sign will be installed on the collector street, provided that the traffic volume is higher on the arterial street, otherwise the stop signs should be placed on the arterial street.

5.24.5 ARTERIAL/ARTERIAL STREET

At intersections of an Arterial Street with another Arterial Street the stop sign will be installed on the lower volume arterial street.

5.24.6 FOUR-WAY STOPS

At Four-Way Stops:

- a) When the traffic volumes on the two intersecting streets are approximately equal (i.e.: the spread is no greater than a 60/40 split) ~ the average delay at the two-way stop is more than 30 seconds during peak traffic conditions. This delay is approximately equal to the delay at a traffic signal, or:
- b) When traffic signals are not warranted and there are five or more reported accidents per year that can be potentially prevented by the installation of a four-way stop, or
- c) On an interim basis when switching two-way stop signs from one road, at an intersection, to the other road, thus requiring removal of existing stop signs.

5.24.7 VISIBILITY INTERSECTIONS

At limited visibility intersections:

a) As recommended by the City's Technical Traffic Committee.

Amendment July 7/09 Res #09-0276 *New- Section 5.25

5.25 NEIGHBOURHOOD TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT

5.25.1 PURPOSE

The purpose of the Neighbourhood Traffic Management Policy is to:

- a) balance the needs of vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists within neighborhoods;
- b) ensure that roads are being used for their intended purpose.

5.25.2 SCOPE

The Neighbourhood Traffic Management Policy applies to local and collector roads, as defined in the City's Official Community Plan. Traffic concerns along arterial roads are managed with different processes.



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

5.25.3 DEFINITIONS

5.25.3.1 TRAFFIC CALMING

Shall refer to physical measures that mitigate the negative effects of motor vehicle use by altering driver behaviour and improving conditions for non motorized street users.

5.25.4 OBJECTIVES

Traffic calming generally aims to achieve one of the four goals as detailed below.

- a) Reduce Vehicular Speeds;
- b) Discourage "Through" Traffic;
- c) Minimize Conflicts Between Street Users;
- d) Improve the Neighbourhood Environment.

5.25.5 PROCEDURES

5.25.5.1 NEW DEVELOPMENT

Traffic calming shall be considered during the design, approval and construction of all newly developed or re-developed City roads in accordance with the City's Neighborhood Traffic Management Procedures.

5.25.5.2 EXISTING NEIGHBORHOODS

In response to traffic calming requests from existing neighborhoods, the City will:

- a) Prioritize the request;
- b) Initiate a study;
- c) Identify/quantify the problem;
- d) Develop a plan;
- e) Implement the plan;

in accordance with the City's Neighborhood Traffic Management Procedures.

5.25.6 NEIGHBOURHOOD TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES REPORT ATTACHED



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

NEIGHBOURHOOD TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES

CITY OF CAMPBELL RIVER



16 JUNE, 2009

Page 32 of 112



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

Appendix A: Prioritizing Method

The following method prioritizes traffic calming requests. As City funding is limited, this prioritizing method will determine which projects receive funding first.

Criteria	Points	Basis for Point Assignment
Speed	0 to 50	85 th percentile speed on the primary road. 5 points for every kph that the 85 th percentile speed is over the posted speed limit, to be confirmed by Speed Watch.
Volume	0 to 50	Average daily traffic volumes (AADT). 1 point for every 100 vehicles based on traffic count data.
Collisions	0 to 25	Average number of collisions in the past 3 years, based on ICBC reports. 5 points will be allocated for each collision in the average year.
School zone	0 to 10	5 points for each school zone (usually reduced to 30km/hr) along the primary road
Presence of pedestrian generators	0 to 15	5 points assigned for each public facility (such as park, community centre, high school) that generates a significant number of pedestrians on the primary road
Safe routes to school program	0 to 5	5 points assigned for a safe route to school on the primary road
Bicycle routes	0 to 5	5 points assigned if the primary road is a designated bicycle route
Transit routes	0 to 5	5 points if the primary street accommodates transit service
Pedestrian facilities	0 to 5	5 points assigned if there is no continuous sidewalk on at least one side of the primary road
Total possible points	170	



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures City of Campbell River

Table of Contents

Table of Oanlands	
Table of Contents	
1.0 Introduction	
2.0 Goals of Traffic Calming	
3.0 Principles of Traffic Calming	
4.0 Traffic Calming Process	
4.1 Initiate the study	
4.2 Identify problems	
4.3 Develop a Plan	
4.4 Implement the Plan	
5.0 Traffic Calming Measures	
5.1 Raised Crosswalk	
5.2 Raised Intersection	
5.3 Speed Humps	
5.4 Textured Crosswalk	
5.5 Curb Bulges	
5.6 Curb Radius Reduction	
5.7 On Street Parking	9
5.8 Raised Median Island	
5.9 Traffic Circle	
5.10 Gateway Median	
5.11 Partial Closure	
5.12 Diagonal Diverter	
5.13 Intersection Channelization	
5.14 Raised Median Through an Intersection	
5.15 Right-In / Right-Out Island	
5.16 Traffic Calmed Neighbourhood Sign	
6.0 Measures Not Generally Recommended	
6.1 Chicane	
6.2 Rumble Strip	.14
6.3 Full Closure	.14
6.4 All-Way Stop Signs	.14
6.5 Other Signage	.14
7.0 Budget and Implementation	.14
8.0 Conclusion	
Appendix A: Prioritizing Method	Λ 1



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

1.0 Introduction

Local residential roads are multi-purpose roads that should be designed to balance the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles. On most roads, these uses coexist and people feel safe walking, cycling and driving on local roads. On some roads, the volume or the speed of traffic can detract from the livability of a neighbourhood and the implementation of traffic calming can help mitigate this.

Traffic calming is the combination of mainly physical measures that mitigate the negative effects of motor vehicle use by altering driver behaviour and improving conditions for non-motorized street users. They include measures such as vertical deflection, horizontal deflection, obstructions and signage. Some examples are speed humps, traffic circles and diverters.

Additional information may be found in the "Canadian Guide to Neighbourhood Traffic Calming," published by TAC (Transportation Association of Canada) and ITE (Institute of Traffic Engineers). This policy is based on this guide.

2.0 Goals of Traffic Calming

Residential local roads should carry primarily local traffic and should allow for safe and convenient passage for pedestrians and cyclists. Traffic calming generally aims to achieve one of the four goals as detailed below.

Reduce Vehicular Speeds: Excessive vehicle speed creates a safety concern, as it doesn't allow drivers enough time to stop for a child at a crosswalk or a cyclist on the road. Speeds which are appropriate on major arterials are often excessive on a local road, even though they have the same posted speed limit. High speeds detract from the livability of a neighbourhood and increase the risk to pedestrians and cyclists.

Discourage "Through" Traffic: Some neighbourhoods become "short-cuts" where non-local traffic uses local roads instead of collector or arterial roads and cuts through the area. This can lead to excessive speeds, noise, pollution, congestion and decrease the quality of living of residents who live on the street.

Minimize Conflicts Between Street Users: Local roads are meant to be shared between pedestrians, cyclists, motorists and others. Minimizing conflict between the different groups increases safety for all road users and encourages walking and cycling.

Improve the Neighbourhood Environment: By reducing vehicle speeds, lowering traffic volumes and decreasing conflict, a neighbourhood becomes a more pleasant place to live. This makes for healthier neighbourhoods and more livable communities.



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

In short, traffic calming aims to increase the safety and livability of a neighbourhood and can help promote "greener," alternate modes of travel.

3.0 Principles of Traffic Calming

The following principles of traffic calming are meant to provide overall direction and guidance to the proper application of traffic calming measures.

Identify the actual problem: It is important to identify the actual problem, and to differentiate it from a perceived problem. Only when the true problem is identified can appropriate solutions be found. The actual problem is found by collecting data and by consulting with local residents who are often very familiar with traffic patterns in their area.

Quantify the problem: It is necessary to quantify the problem to determine the best solution. Does the problem exist all day or only during certain times of the year, or in certain directions? Data collection is necessary to ensure an accurate problem statement.

Consider improvements to the arterial street network: Traffic problems in neighbourhoods often result because the arterial network is congested. Most drivers short-cut through a neighbourhood for a reason, and that reason is often congestion on nearby arterial roads. Improving flow on the main roads will often improve traffic conditions in neighbourhoods.

Apply traffic calming measures on an area-wide basis: To avoid moving the problem to another street or another neighbourhood, a defined area should be studied and reviewed. This area is usually bounded by major arterials or geographic landmarks such as rivers or ravines.

Avoid restricting access and egress: Generally residents and businesses are more supportive of traffic calming measures that maintain their access into and out of a neighbourhood. Any diversionary measure should only be used as a last resort when all other measures have failed.

Use self-enforcing measures: Self-enforcing measures such as speed humps, diverters or traffic circles are much more effective than measures which require police enforcement such as speed limit signs or turn prohibition signs.

Do not impede non-motorized modes: The purpose of traffic calming is to calm motor vehicle traffic while improving conditions for other modes, such as pedestrians and cyclists. As such, traffic calming should be directed at vehicles, and should accommodate non-motorized modes.



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

Consider all services: Transit, emergency vehicles, garbage trucks and snow plows should be considered in the design of any traffic calming. Service providers often have concerns as to how their vehicles can safely and efficiently navigate through a traffic calmed area.

Monitor and follow-up: It is valuable to monitor the traffic calmed area to determine the effect of the traffic calming. It is also possible to implement temporary traffic calming measures and to observe their effectiveness before making them permanent.

Adhering to these principles will help create a successful traffic calming program with optimal results for all involved.

4.0 Traffic Calming Process

The following process should be employed for all traffic calming requests. This ensures a consistent approach. There are four main stages to a traffic calming project:

- 1. Initiate the study
- 2. Identify problems
- 3. Develop a plan
- 4. Implement the plan

The following is a more in-depth review of each stage.

4.1 Initiate the study

Activities undertaken at the beginning of a traffic calming study can determine whether or not the resulting plan will be successful.

Identify the need for a traffic calming study. This can include requests from residents, or ongoing monitoring from the City. Some preliminary measure of traffic volume and speed should be completed at this time.

Define the study scope and study area. Determine the limits of the study area by looking at predominant travel patterns and major arterials or dividing geographic features.

Depending on the extent and nature of the traffic calming study, decide if the traffic calming study can be done in house with staff expertise or if a consultant should be hired. If a consultant is to be hired, City staff should develop a terms of reference.

If a consultant is hired, hold an initial meeting with the consultant and confirm scope of work, work program, schedule and budget. A study initiation meeting should be held immediately after project award with the selected consultant, and



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

municipal staff to ensure all parties are satisfied with and aware of the issues and scope of work.

Hold the first open house. Invitations to the open house should be sent directly to homes in the study area. The invitation should also include a page for residents to return with their comments. At the open house staff should review the traffic calming process and show some traffic calming measures. Solicit comments from the neighbourhood in terms of what they perceive the problem to be. An Advisory Committee comprising community representatives should be established to effectively involve the community. The Advisory Committee should include community representatives from different streets, with different perspectives (walkers, cyclists, drivers, physically challenged etc). The open house is another good indicator of public interest and support.

4.2 Identify problems

At the outset of a traffic calming study, it is important to clearly identify the magnitude and nature of traffic and transportation problems to be addressed.

Collect data. Data should be collected to identify, confirm and quantify the extent of any problems. This information will be used to identify appropriate traffic calming measures, and to establish "before" conditions for subsequent monitoring.

Quantify problems. Based on an analysis of the collected data, quantify the magnitude of reported problems, the duration, the direction and route of traffic and other key characteristics. This will aid discussion for finding the "best" solution and will justify the improvements.

Confirm the identified problems. Ensure that the descriptions of problems are consistent with the community's perceptions. The results of the technical data collection and the quantification of problems should be discussed with the Advisory Committee to ensure that they agree with the problems.

4.3 Develop a Plan

Once problems have been identified and quantified, the next stage of the study involves developing the traffic calming plan.

Examine arterial streets. A cursory review of arterial network performance should be conducted, and any identified problems dealt with separately. If arterial performance is poor, improving it will improve conditions on the local roads.

Select potential traffic calming measures. Consider safety, access, cost and traffic conditions. Hold a workshop with the Advisory Committee to develop solutions. With the Advisory Committee, come up with one plan.

Page 37 of 112



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

Present the plan to transit, emergency service providers and maintenance providers to solicit their input. Revise as necessary to satisfy all parties, including the Advisory Committee.

Measure community support for the traffic calming plan via a second open house. Residents should be asked if they support the plan as presented, with a "Yes," "No," or "Neutral" vote. If necessary, modify the plan to address additional problems and issues raised by the community.

Develop an implementation strategy. Prepare cost estimates and identify priorities, timing and staging of implementation.

Prepare final report and submit the final plan for approval to Council.

4.4 Implement the Plan

After the traffic calming plan has been approved, the final stage involves a feasibility check, design, implementation and monitoring. At this point in the process, municipal staff typically assume the lead.

Prepare designs. Construction drawings should be prepared based on technical guidelines found in the "Canadian Guide to Neighbourhood Traffic Calming," 1998 by TAC / ITE. City staff or the consultant if one was hired will prepare the terms of reference for detailed design by a consultant.

Implement measures. The design consultant will budget and tender the traffic calming measures. The contractor will construct the traffic calming measures.

Monitor conditions. Collect "after" traffic data to determine if the measures are functioning as intended. If the traffic calming measures were temporary, collect data after installation, review in house or with the hired consultant, and hold a third open house. If the traffic calming measures were permanent, collect data based on complaints or if necessary.



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

5.0 Traffic Calming Measures

There are a variety of different traffic calming measures which may be used to reduce vehicles volumes, lower speeds, decrease conflicts and increase aesthetics. They can be grouped into four categories:

- Vertical Deflection Traffic calming measures which cause a vertical deflection of the vehicle generally reduces vehicle speeds and may also decrease volume. Examples are raised crosswalks, speed bumps and raised intersections.
- Horizontal Deflection Traffic calming measures which cause a horizontal deflection of vehicles generally discourage short-cutting of vehicles. Examples are chicanes, curb extensions and traffic circles.
- 3. Obstruction Traffic calming measures which obstruct specific vehicle movements are typically used at intersections. They discourage or eliminate short-cutting or "through" traffic. Examples are partial closures, diverters and intersection channelization.
- 4. Signing Installing signage such as stop signs, reduced speed signs or turn restriction signs are generally not an effective traffic calming measure, but are discussed in this policy.

5.1 Raised Crosswalk

A raised crosswalk is a marked pedestrian crosswalk at an intersection or midblock location constructed at a higher elevation than the adjacent roadway. The purpose of a raised crosswalk is to reduce vehicle speeds, improve pedestrian visibility and reduce pedestrian-vehicle conflicts.



Photo: Melissa Heidema

Page 39 of 112



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

5.2 Raised Intersection

A raised intersection is an intersection, including crosswalks, constructed at a higher elevation than the adjacent roadways. The purpose of a raised intersection is to reduce vehicle speeds, better define crosswalk areas and reduce pedestrian – vehicle conflicts.



Photo: Livable Streets Network

5.3 Speed Humps

A speed hump is a raised area of roadway, which deflects both the wheels and the frame of the traversing vehicle. The primary purpose of a speed hump is to reduce vehicle speeds.



Photo: Richard Drdul

5.4 Textured Crosswalk

A textured crosswalk is a crosswalk incorporating a textured and/or patterned surface which contrasts with the adjacent roadway. The purpose is to better define the crossing location for pedestrians and to reduce pedestrian – vehicle conflict.



Photo: Melissa Heidema

Page 40 of 112

8



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

5.5 Curb Bulges

Curb bulges are horizontal intrusions of the curb into the roadway resulting in a narrower section of roadway. The purpose of a curb extension is to reduce crossing distances for pedestrians, increase pedestrian visibility and prevent parking close to an intersection. The narrowing of the roadway may also reduce vehicle speeds.



Photo: Melissa Heidema

5.6 Curb Radius Reduction

A curb radius reduction is the reconstruction of an intersection corner with a smaller radius, usually in the 3.0 to 5.0m range. The purpose of a reduced curb radius is to slow right turning vehicles, reduce crossing distances for pedestrians and improve pedestrian visibility.



Photo: Richard Drdul

5.7 On Street Parking

On street parking is allowing motor vehicles to park adjacent and parallel to the curb which creates a reduction of the allowable roadway width available for vehicle movement. Angle parking is not appropriate as a traffic calming measure, due to the increased potential for conflicts.



Photo: Richard Drdul

Page 41 of 112



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

5.8 Raised Median Island

A raised median island is an elevated median constructed on the centerline of a two-way roadway to reduce the overall width of the adjacent travel lanes. If required, bicycle lanes can be included to prevent motorists from intruding into the path of cyclists. The purpose of a median island is to reduce vehicle speeds and to give a pedestrian refuge when crossing the road.



Photo: Richard Drdul

5.9 Traffic Circle

A traffic circle is a raised island located in the centre of an intersection, which requires vehicles to travel through the intersection in a counterclockwise direction around the island. The turning path for left turning buses, long service vehicles and some emergency vehicles should be a factor in design. Traffic circles differ from roundabouts in that roundabouts are larger, have raised median islands on all approaches and may have more than one lane. When driving through a traffic circle, a motorist should yield to vehicles already in the intersection.



Photo: Richard Drdul

Traffic circles also provide the opportunity for landscaping. Landscaping can be "hard" or "soft." The City's Parks, Recreation and Culture Department has expressed a preference for hard landscaping, and the use of stamped concrete, coloured concrete or river rocks, as opposed to greenery.



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

5.10 Gateway Median

A gateway median is a treatment that indicates to motorists that they are leaving an arterial street and entering a residential neighbourhood. They can be physical roadway features such as landscaped islands, or coloured-textured pavement and they can include public artwork. The purpose is to send visual cues to drivers to alert them that they are entering a residential neighbourhood.



Photo: City of Bellevue, WA

5.11 Partial Closure

A partial closure is a curb extension or vertical barrier extending to approximately the centerline of a roadway, effectively obstructing (prohibiting) one direction of traffic. Bicycles should be permitted to travel through a directional closure in both directions. Directional closures are very successful at obstructing short cutting traffic.



Photo: Richard Drdul

5.12 Diagonal Diverter

A diagonal diverter is a raised barrier placed diagonally across an intersection that forces traffic to turn and prevents traffic from proceeding straight through the intersection. Diverters can incorporate gaps for pedestrians, wheelchairs and bicycles and can be mountable by emergency vehicles.



Photo: Richard DrduPage 43 of 112

Council Policy (Public Works)



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

5.13 Intersection Channelization

Intersection channelization is the use of raised island located in an intersection to obstruct specific traffic movements and physically direct traffic through an intersection. Intersection channelization can improve pedestrian crossing safety by reducing crossing distances and providing refuge areas. Bicycles should be permitted to make all movements, including those prohibited to motor vehicles.



Photo: Melissa Heidema

5.14 Raised Median Through an Intersection

A raised median through an intersection is an elevated median located on the centerline of a two-way roadway through an intersection, which prevents left turns and through movements to and from the intersecting roadways. It can create a refuge for pedestrians and cyclists.



Photo: Richard Drdul



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

5.15 Right-In / Right-Out Island

A right-in / right-out island is a raised triangular island at an intersection approach which obstructs left turns and through movements to and from the intersecting street or driveway. Bicycles should be permitted to make the prohibited movements. Variations include right-in / all-out and all-in / right-out.



Photo: Richard Drdul

5.16 Traffic Calmed Neighbourhood Sign

The "Traffic Calmed Neighbourhood" sign, if installed in conjunction with traffic calming measures, can reinforce to drivers that this area is traffic calmed. However, signing on its own does not provide much benefit for traffic calming. As such, it is not recommended to use signing alone to calm an area.



Photo: Richard Drdul

6.0 Measures Not Generally Recommended

While the following traffic calming measures are recognized in the "Canadian Guide to Neighbourhood Traffic Calming", they are not recommended for use in Campbell River.

6.1 Chicane

A chicane is a series of curb extensions on alternating sides of the roadway, which narrow the roadway and require drivers to steer from one side of the roadway to the other to travel through the chicane. Typically, a series of at least three curb extensions is used. While one-lane chicanes have been successful at reducing vehicle volumes and vehicle speeds, they have higher maintenance costs, including snow clearing and street sweeping.

Page 45 of 112



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

6.2 Rumble Strip

Rumble strips are raised buttons, bars or grooves closely spaced at regular intervals on the roadway that create both noise and vibration in a moving vehicle. It is not a common traffic calming measure and creates additional noise for nearby residents.

6.3 Full Closure

A full closure is a barrier extending the entire width of a roadway, which obstructs all motor vehicle traffic movements from continuing along the roadway. They severely restrict resident access and may divert significant volumes to parallel streets. They should only be used as a last resort when other traffic calming measures have failed.

6.4 All-Way Stop Signs

The purpose of a stop sign is to indicate to drivers that they must stop their vehicles completely before entering the intersection area and must not proceed until it is safe to do so. Unwarranted and overused all-way stop signs create compliance problems, increase breaking / accelerating noise and increase speeds mid-block.

6.5 Other Signage

Except for the "Traffic Calmed Neighbourhood" detailed in 5.16, other signs are not recommended as a traffic calming measure. Examples are maximum speed signs, turn prohibited signs, one-way signs or through traffic prohibited signs. Without physical measures that restrict movements, signage is likely to be ignored, creating enforcement issues, and ultimately leading to a disrespect for all signs.

7.0 Budget and Implementation

It is suggested that funding for traffic calming in Campbell River will typically come from general revenue unless other appropriate sources can be identified. This should be accomplished by allocating funds to specific projects through the yearly budget cycle. A corresponding increase in the maintenance budget should also be sought for a traffic calming project (including additional annual landscaping costs if applicable).

Other municipalities were consulted to determine how traffic calming projects are funded elsewhere. The majority of municipalities in British Columbia fund traffic calming through general revenue. Some municipalities have unsuccessfully

Page 46 of 112



Adopted: September 12, 2000 Council Resolution No. 00-762

Neighbourhood Traffic Management Procedures

City of Campbell River

attempted to levy traffic calming costs through local improvement fees or local service areas; however, residents in a neighbourhood are often not responsible for traffic patterns in their neighbourhood and they perceive it unfair to be made to pay to improve the streets. The basic rationale for City-wide funded traffic calming is further supported by the fact that most other road and transportation improvements are typically funded in this manner.

As City funding is limited, a means of prioritizing requests is needed. This prioritizing method includes data such as speed, volume, collisions, presence of nearby schools, presence of pedestrian generators, safe routes to school program, bicycle routes, transit routes and pedestrian facilities. See Appendix A for the prioritizing method.

It is also possible that a neighbourhood group comes forward willing to partially fund traffic calming in their neighbourhood. If this is the case, the implementation could be accelerated.

For each project, the Insurance Corporation of BC (ICBC) should be contacted to determine if there is any funding available. ICBC will typically fund a road improvement project if it can be proven that the improvement will result in a decrease in collisions, and consequently a decrease in ICBC claims. Since traffic calming usually involves low volume residential roads with existing low number of collisions, this method of funding will not be common.

8.0 Conclusion

In conclusion, neighbourhood traffic management has the potential to increase livability, decrease negative aspects of the car, promote walking and cycling, and improve the neighbourhood environment. The appropriate steps need to be taken to ensure that the needs of all user groups are identified and addressed. By following these procedures, the City will ensure that all traffic calming requests are dealt with in a fair and equitable manner.

This set of Neighbourhood Traffic Management Proceudres is meant to be a living document that can be changed and adapted to different situations and standards as necessary.